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Friday, December 8, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Panel is sitting today in EB-2017-0022 and 0023, enforcement actions against Active Energy Inc.

Mr. Mondrow, I believe that today you are going to put forward the case of Active Energy?

MR. MONDROW:  We are, Madam Chair.  I think Mr. Safayeni has a few preliminary remarks he'd like to offer.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Safayeni.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Good morning, Madam Chair, good morning --


MS. LONG:  Good morning.

MR. SAFAYENI:  -- members of the Panel.  Just very briefly three things.  First of all, we've filed redacted copies of the Agreed Statement of Fact without tab 18 as per the Panel's direction, so that's been done now.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Second of all, the Panel may recall that there was an issue last time around witnesses and the uses of marked-up versions of documents.  Since that time I have had discussions with Mr. Mondrow and I have been assured that the witnesses will only have clean copies of documents before them, so that issue is now moot.  There is a brief exception.  I believe Mr. Waddick has a page with a couple of figures in order to make a correction to the witness statement.  I have no issue with that.  But apart from that, the issue of clean versus redacted copies has been resolved.

MS. LONG:  Very good.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Third, my friend has submitted a joint witness statement and is proposing to do examinations in-chief as a panel.  I am content with that.  We have agreed -- and I am content to do cross-examinations as a panel as well.  We have agreed that I can direct questions to one witness or another, and if any issues arise regarding the conduct of the cross-examination or the witnesses' answers in response to my questions we can deal with it at that time, but at this time I think we can propose both -- proceed with both examinations in-chief and cross-examinations as a witness panel.

MS. LONG:  And Mr. Mondrow, there's general acceptance that that is how questions will be answered, directed to one witness, and will be answered that way?  The Panel just doesn't -- I don't want to arbitrate every question that Mr. Safayeni asks, so I want to make sure that there is agreement that that's how the joint panel will run.

MR. MONDROW:  What we have agreed, Madam Chair, is what Mr. Safayeni has described.  What Mr. Safayeni didn't address is, once the witness to whom he directs the question finishes the answer, if the other witness wants to add something, my position is they should be able to.  Mr. Safayeni didn't mention that.  I don't know if that's what he anticipates as being a potential issue, so I just want to be upfront about that.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That is the issue on which there is potential disagreement.  My view at this point is, rather than -- subject to the Panel's preferences, of course, rather than deal with it as a preliminary issue, it may end up not being an issue at all, depending on how the cross-examination proceeds, and frankly, I don't think it will be an issue.

So if it becomes one we may have to make submissions on it, excuse the witnesses, and receive a ruling, but at this point I'm perhaps naively optimistic that we can proceed without it becoming a full-blown issue that requires a ruling.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, we will proceed on that basis and see how things go.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

In that case, I'd like to introduce to you, closest to the panel is Mr. Michael Stedman, and I will introduce him more formally through direct examination in a moment.  And the other gentleman in the witness box, as it were, is Mr. Chris Waddick, and if I could ask that they be affirmed, I can commence my examination, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.
ACTIVE ENERGY - PANEL 1

Michael Stedman,
Chris Waddick; Affirmed.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I should clarify for the sake of the transcripts, Michael Stedman's last name is spelled S-T-E-D-M-A-N, and Chris Waddick's last name is spelled W-A-D-D-I-C-K.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, I will start with you.

Madam Chair, I am going to ask the witnesses to refer to their joint witness statements, attached to which are CVs.  We have previously filed what I guess I could colloquially refer to as a brief.  It's a cerlox-bound tabbed booklet entitled "Active Energy Inc. witness statements."  I wonder if you wanted to mark that as an exhibit just for the sake of clarity of the record.

MS. LONG:  Yes, thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  We can mark that as Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  CERLOX-BOUND TABBED BOOKLET ENTITLED "ACTIVE ENERGY INC. WITNESS STATEMENTS."

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Mr. Stedman, if I could ask you to start with.  You are president and chief operating officer of Active Energy Inc.?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you also founded Active?

MR. STEDMAN:  I did.

MR. MONDROW:  And that was in 2005?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, can you turn, please, to the joint witness statement.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Mondrow, can we just wait one moment --


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MS. LONG:  -- we're just locating our materials, I am sorry.

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize.

MS. SPOEL:  I'm sure I have a copy of this.

MR. MONDROW:  We will also be -- I will also be asking the witnesses to open Active's opening statement for a reference during my direct examination if you wanted to retrieve that as well.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Stedman, if you could turn to the joint witness statement filed by Active.  It's dated September 27th, 2017, and I actually want to go to attachment 1 to that joint witness statement, which is your CV, I believe.  Could you open that?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You have that open?  And can you confirm, Mr. Stedman, this is your CV and it is accurate?

MR. STEDMAN:  It is accurate.

MR. MONDROW:  And if we look starting at page 2 of the CV under the "education" heading, you have a bachelor of science honours degree in metallurgical engineering from Queen's University?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And following your graduation from university, you worked for Centra Gas and Union Gas for some 12 years?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you briefly describe your roles with those utilities, please.

MR. STEDMAN:  I started out of engineering school at Queen's at Centra Gas and moved up to North Bay doing engineering, more co-generation studies for the utility.  I moved from there into the industrial sales part of the business and moved up through Centra to managing all the industrial part for Centra Gas.  I was there for about five or six years and then moved on to Union Gas when West Coast Energy bought Union Gas and Centra Gas together, and at that time there was an opportunity for me to move into gas supply.  So I moved into transportation, gas supply, risk management.  And in my final roles there, I was a director, managing all the gas supply for Union Gas, as well as risk management and some NEB and OEB testimony as well.

MR. MONDROW:  And then looking at page 1 of your CV, in 2001 you joined a company by the name of Mirant Canada?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And can you briefly describe your role with Mirant, please.

MR. STEDMAN:  So when I was at Union Gas Mirant had approached me to start up an eastern office for Mirant Canada, and at that time I did move from Union to Mirant, and the first business we did was to acquire TransCanada's pipeline marketing business, and we moved approximately 600,000 a day from Manitoba to eastern Canada and northeast U.S., and I was responsible for the sales part of that.

Within a year or so Enron collapse happened, and after that we basically wound down the business over the next few months.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, you referred to 600,000 a day.  600,000 what?

MR. STEDMAN:  Sorry, 600,000 GJs a day.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Of natural gas?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And after Mirant, Mr. Stedman, what did you do?

MR. STEDMAN:  I took a year off to try to decide what I wanted to be when I grew up, and did some consulting, like a lot of people do.  So I took about 11 months off and in there, I worked for companies like APPrO, Elenchus Research, and I did some energy advise for lawyers.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, you have appeared before this Board in the past, I understand.

MR. STEDMAN:  I have, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  In what context?

MR. STEDMAN:  In Centra Gas, I was here for facility applications when we built a pipeline from the 401 up to Madoc.  With Union Gas, I did a lot of testifying in regards to our gas supply and risk management for Union Gas.  And I have also done some testimony in front of the NEB in regards to TransCanada pipeline issues and Alliance pipeline.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And finally, what's been your involvement in the circumstances which have led to this hearing?

MR. STEDMAN:  I got involved about a year and a half ago with regards to a complaint labelled as CC in the testimony.  And in that complaint, that led to the two notices coming out in the spring of 2017.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have been involved in this matter throughout the period you've described?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes, I have.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Waddick, turning to you, you are executive vice president and CFO, the chief financial officer of Active?

MR. WADDICK:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  That is as of January 2013, so about five years?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Can you turn to the attachment 2 the joint witness statement dated September 27, 2017, and please confirm that this is your CV and that it is accurate.

MR. WADDICK:  It is.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have earned an honours degree, looking at the third page in your case, in business administration from Wilfred Laurier University, and a master's degree in business administration from York University?

MR. WADDICK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you are a certified management accountant?

MR. WADDICK:  I am, now labelled CPA since the merger of the accounting designations.

MR. MONDROW:  So certified management accountant and certified professional accountant are essentially the same thing?

MR. WADDICK:  Correct, now they are.

MR. MONDROW:  Your first career role listed on your CV was with Magna International for a few years?

MR. WADDICK:  It was, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And then you took a position at Centra Gas, which became, as we've heard, Union Gas, and you were there for about eight years, as I understand it.

MR. WADDICK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you describe your activities and roles with Union and Centra?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes. I started in regulatory doing cost of service studies, then getting into rate design, moved into regulatory planning running rate cases, and then into the finance area.  And as Mr. Stedman mentioned, when Westcoast Energy bought Union Gas and Centra Gas, I ended up moving into a financial planning role and being responsible for financial planning for the combined Union Gas and Centra Gas after they merged.

MR. MONDROW:  And I understand you had the pleasure of meeting Mr.  Stedman during your time at Centra.

MR. WADDICK:  I did.  He moved into an office beside me over 25 years ago today, and we have been friends since.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And then you held senior executive positions in the life sciences in clean tech sectors prior to joining Active, and those are listed on your CV?

MR. WADDICK:  They are.

MR. MONDROW:  And, Mr. Waddick, have you appeared before this Board in the past?

MR. WADDICK:  I have.  I have appeared in a number of rate cases while with Centra Gas.

MR. MONDROW:  And what's been your involvement in the circumstances which have led to this hearing?

MR. WADDICK:  Mr. Stedman and I run the day-to-day operations of the company, each focussing on our own areas of expertise.  But I certainly would have been involved in reviewing the initial complaint response to the customer labelled CC, which, as we know, turned out not to be a case of aggregation in that situation.  And then I would have been responsible for also reviewing all the responses to Ms. Armstrong throughout her investigation.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Gentlemen, if I could ask you both to turn back in the volume that you have to the actual joint witness statement?  It is a document and it's at tab 1 of the materials that you have, and it's entitled joint witness statement, Michael Stedman and Chris Waddick.

And if you flip to the last page of that document, just for the date, the date is September 27th, 2017, and I understand -- just before I ask you to adopt this, Mr. Waddick, there is a correction to attachment 4 of this witness statement, which is actually found behind tab 5 in the materials.

MR. WADDICK:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And that is a table entitled Active multiple location customers with one or more low volume meters.

MR. WADDICK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Can you explain the correction you'd like to make to this information, please?

MR. WADDICK:  There's two typos in that tab and it's related to the third customer down, customer number 24 on that list.  And if you go across to the column labelled number of locations, it says seven; that should read five locations, not seven.  And the volume number beside it should read 4213600, so 4,213,600, and that's it.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And with that correction, gentlemen, I will ask you in turn if you are prepared to adopt the joint witness statement and its attachments as your evidence in this matter.

Mr. Stedman, are you prepared to do so?

MR. STEDMAN:  I am.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Waddick?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And can you turn then, please, now to tab 9 in the materials.  And again so this is tab 9 for the record, in Exhibit K2.1.  And there you should see a document entitled further joint witness statement, Michael Stedman and Chris Waddick.  And again if you flip to the last page, you should see that it's dated October 27th, 2017.  Do you see all that?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And can I ask you each in turn, gentlemen, if you adopt this further joint witness statement and its attachments as your evidence in this proceeding.  Mr. Stedman?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Waddick?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes, I do.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Stedman, if I could then turn back to you and start with a clarification.  If you could open your joint witness statement, so the first of the two that we have just looked at, and look at paragraph number 6, please.  Do you have that?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And that paragraph says Active retails energy to customers, not to accounts.  If you could just bear that in mind for a minute, and flip to attachment 4 which is at tab 5 -- this is the table that Mr. Waddick corrected a minute ago -- and this is just an Example.  The other tables attached to this witness statement are similar and, in some of the column headings, this are references to the number of meters.  And I just want to clarify terminology at the outset.

So if we go back then to the witness statement, paragraphs 7 and 8 for reference, indicate that each meter is associated with a distinct utility account.  Is that correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Am I correct that each utility account is associated with a particular municipal address?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And one address can have more than one meter, and thus more than one utility account?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And in the case of the 101 customers included in the notices of intention in this proceeding, each of those customers has meters and thus utility accounts across at least two addresses?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Stedman, staying with you, if you could turn with me -- you should have a copy of the transcript from last day, and I'd like you to turn to page 29 of that transcript, if you can find that.  The page numbers should be at the top right-hand side of the page.

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And this is an excerpt transcribed from Mr. Safayeni's opening statement, and I want to look at something that he said starting at line 7.

Mr. Safayeni says:

"Take a look at some of the customers who are going to be impacted here, small business owners, farmers, mechanics, bowling alley operators, Chinese restaurant owners.  I mean, these are not the type of customer -- ask yourself are these the type of customers who need ECPA protections, or are these the type of sophisticated business consumers that are savvy enough to operate without ECPA protections."

Mr. Stedman, can you comment on Mr. Safayeni's characterization?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yeah, I do not agree that customers that are above 150,000 kilowatt-hours need ECPA protection.

Let me start with farmers.  When you are dealing with customers that are those farmers that are below 150,000 kilowatt-hours, you are talking about farms that basically have one or two buildings, they may have a few acres, a couple of cows, horses, or what have you.  That's what you are talking about when you are dealing with that size of low-volume consumer.

When you are dealing with customers that are larger, above 150,000 to anywhere to 600 and 700,000 kilowatt-hours in the instance of farms, you are talking about operations. You are talking about farms that have -- tobacco, for example; that could be one to two million pounds of tobacco.  You're talking about livestock, like chickens, 100, 150,000 chickens that are being produced, you have a lot of acreage, you also obviously need a lot of employees to help you with the operations that are there.

These customers, these farms, are very sophisticated people.  They have to buy -- procure a lot of different products for their animals and for their farms.  They obviously have to enter into a lot of negotiations in regards to that procurement and negotiations in regards to selling their products.  So these are very sophisticated buyers out there.

On the other three points here, mechanics, you are not talking about a, you know, a two-bay store that you see going down the street; you're talking about multiple locations.  The same with bowling alleys.  I don't know why there is a reference to Chinese restaurants, but we do have a lot of restaurants.

You are talking about not just one building, one restaurant, one bowling alley, you are talking about multiple locations, two, seven, ten type of locations.  You are talking about these business owners that are very sophisticated.  Again, they are buying products, they are buying food for their products.  They have to employ a lot of employees to wait tables and cook and so forth.  And they are business-savvy, because they have expanded.  They have moved -- we are not talking about one restaurant or one bowling alley.  Again, we are talking numerous establishments, so that is why they are much more business-savvy when you are dealing with them.

When you deal with sophisticated customers like this, they have a certain demand and expectation from you.  They expect to be consulted.  So they don't want a door-knocker.  They don't want somebody like that.  They want somebody to come in, experience, take them through what the business is doing.

Our consultants that we deal with have to be working at that level.  They are not trained to do just sales, they are trained to understand the market and how the market is traded in the business.

So they go in and do consulting with these people, they take them through their portfolio, they work through their budget, they work through their risk management programs that they may or may not have.

A lot of these deals are done not in one meeting.  There could be numerous meetings.  It could take months to close a deal.

There's also the -- when you are dealing with these people, they are also looking at getting a wholesale price.  They don't go on to somewhere like the Energy Shop site and sign up at 3.6 cents a kilowatt hour.  They are going to come to you and ask you to get a wholesale price that are being offered out there in the marketplace to people like TD Banks and that type of -- they know the economics of scale of what they have, and they expect that size, that pricing.

They also expect to get products out there that basically you can't get under a normal low-volume consumer.  They want products that are off-peak, on-peak type products.  They want to have the ability to sign a portion of their portfolio.

So they are very sophisticated, and they want to be able to sign something like that with us.  They also want to be able to negotiate terms and conditions.  They go into the details about renewals and credit and so forth, and they want to have the ability to do that.

So these are very sophisticated people that we deal with above 150,000 kilowatt-hours.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Stedman.

Mr. Waddick, I'd like you to look a little further down, the same page of the transcript, and my notes say, starting at line 23 -- this is still Mr. Safayeni's opening statement.  And I want to read in a couple lines and ask for your comments.

Mr. Safayeni says:

"Those kind of sophisticated corporate customers with dozens or hundreds of locations are a fraction of the types of customers that we see in the contracts in this case.  They are the exception, they are not the rule."

Can you comment on that, please?

MR. WADDICK:  Yeah, I would like just to make a couple of comments on that.  First of all, I guess if you just look at the math of the statement, the 101 customers that we are talking about today have about an average of ten utility accounts per customer.  But I would like to address a couple of the implications that are being made in that statement.  One of them is certainly the implication that if a customer does not have dozens or hundreds of accounts that they are somehow not sophisticated.

As Mr. Stedman has just talked about, that's not the case.  They are sophisticated purchasers.  We're dealing with the senior people there, negotiating these contracts for electricity in excess of 150,000 kilowatt-hours.

The other implication that's being made in that statement is that customers that do have dozens or hundreds of utility accounts are somehow a very small fraction of the customer base that we are talking about, and that's absolutely incorrect.  You see these customers everywhere.  They are a large part of this segment of customers that would be considered ECPA customers under the enforcement team's recommendation.  These are the banks, as -- we have talked about the banks a lot, but it goes way beyond the banks.  It's all the major retailers: the Bells, the Rogers, the Telus, the Shoppers Drug Marts; the property management companies, all of them, Brookfield, Cadillac Fairview, RioCan, the owner of this building; government organizations like the Beer Stores, the LCBOs.  All these would be captured as ECPA customers under this interpretation.

The reason you don't see a lot more of those customers on this list of 101 is because we are competing against larger suppliers for that business, we are competing against the Bruce Powers of the world.  It's very difficult for a company like Active to capture those larger-volume customers that I've just referred to when you are competing with someone like Bruce Power, and that's the only reason you don't see more of those customers on this list of 101.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Waddick, I spoke with Ms. Armstrong about Active's customer, initials L.S.C., which is contract number 2 to the second notice of intention.  I would like to ask you to turn up that contract, please.

And Madam Chair, this is in Exhibit K1.2, which was marked yesterday.  This is the ASF.  And, again, this is contract number 2, but to the second notice of intention, so it's closer to the back of the batch.

And just let me know when you have that, please, Mr. Waddick.

MR. WADDICK:  I have it.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  So this was an example that, again, I discussed with Ms. Armstrong, of one of a number of condominiums where this customer was included on the list of 101 and the other condominiums that Board Staff looked at were not, and Ms. Armstrong and I discussed a little bit why that was.

I just wonder if you can describe, please, the physical locations covered by the account schedules to this contract.

MR. WADDICK:  Sure.  They are actually kitty-corner across an intersection from each other.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And when I talked to Ms. Armstrong on the first day I had asked her about the relevance of the OEB's "Consumers Come First" report which she had referred to in her further witness statement, and for some reason she started to talk about one particular contract of the 101, and that would be contract number 6, and this time from the first notice of intention, and I will ask you to turn that one up, please.  And when you have that, if you could turn to schedule A of that contract, which is the last page of that particular contract.

MR. WADDICK:  I have that.

MR. MONDROW:  And again, I will ask you please not to mention any names or addresses so we can stay on the public record.  But Ms. Armstrong opined in her testimony that this list includes three, and I will quote, "what seemed to be" private residences.

Is there any light you can shed on this schedule A for us, please?

MR. WADDICK:  Yes.  Actually, none of those utility accounts listed there are private residences, they are all part of one of two golf operations that are owned -- two golf courses that are owned by the owner who signed the contract, so none are private residences.

But this is a good example of what we see often, which is utility accounts that belong to businesses that are business operations that are actually in the name of individual people.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Waddick, why would we, more generally, see individuals' names on these schedule As?

MR. WADDICK:  There could be lots of reasons for that.  As I said, we see it often.  Certainly you see it often in owner-operated businesses, property management companies, farming operations.  It could be for a variety of reasons.  It could just be historical reasons why the utility account is in an individual's name.  It could be for simplicity purposes.  Most of these, even though they have multiple utility accounts, most of the utility accounts are -- the bills are actually sent to the same address.  Could be because it takes advantage of a utility's security deposit policy to have a utility account in an individual's name versus a business name.  It could be for tax reasons; for property management companies, for example, these are companies that manage many commercial, residential buildings, they own them, they manage them, and sometimes you will see a utility account in the name of one of the owners of the underlying assets, as opposed to the property management company.

And, you know, as Mr. Stedman alluded to earlier with farming operations you will see that, because often a farming operation will have one meter that services many structures on the property.  We have seen one meter service up to 30 buildings on a farming operation, and so that meter will be captured under the individual's name as opposed to a business name.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Mr. Stedman, one more transcript reference, if you could open the transcript from last day to page 139, please.  And just let me know when you have that.

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And if you look at line 4, please, this is Ms. Armstrong suggesting that there are a number of examples among the 101 multi-location customer contracts that, under Active's position on appropriate interpretation of the ECPA term consumer, would not get ECPA protections which they need as vulnerable customers.

And Ms. Armstrong refers here, starting at line 4, she says:
"Some of them were small mom-and-pop shops, a curling club, a Daisy Mart, you know, maybe a customer has two Daisy Marts, and I think under the ECPA, those would be considered unsophisticated customers."

Mr. Stedman, do the lists of 101 customers attached to the notices of intention in this proceeding include any mom-and-pop shops?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, they do not.

MR. MONDROW:  Do they include a curling club?

MR. STEDMAN:  On the list of 101 customers, the curling club is not on there.  It was on the original 141 that was done under the investigation, but that was -- we believe was removed from that list when they pulled out the 101, because it was a single property or what have you.  I am not too sure exactly what happened there, but it's not on the list of 101.

As far as Daisy Mart, there are some Daisy Marts that are multiple locations.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, I want to take you to one last document, and this is Active's opening statement, the filed version -- which, Madam Chair, I believe has not yet been given an exhibit number.  I wonder if, for the purpose of the record, we could mark that as an exhibit.

MR. RICHLER:  K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  ACTIVE ENERGY'S WRITTEN OPENING STATEMENT


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  If you can turn with me, Mr. Stedman, to page 23 of the document behind tab A of Exhibit K 2.2, which is the text of Active's pre-filed opening statement.

So page 23, and I want to look at paragraph 85, please.

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And there at paragraph 85, Active lists some examples of the impact of the enforcement teams advocated approach on your interactions and relationships with your business to business customers.

And then at paragraph 86, it is stated: "In the result, competitive energy supply product offerings would be significantly constrained," that is under the enforcement team's proposed interpretation.

First of all, do you agree with the statements made in paragraphs 85 and 86 of Active's opening statement?

MR. STEDMAN:  I absolutely agree with that.

MR. MONDROW:  And in paragraph 86, the statement I read, "In the result, competitive energy supply product offerings would be significantly constrained" is a pretty bold statement, and I'd ask you to elaborate on that, please.

MR. STEDMAN:  I will focus on three of the points, the first one being the verification calls.  If you go to our second witness statement, paragraph 4, I believe it's in tab 9.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. STEDMAN:  I know I am picking an example here with many locations, but that's what we have.  We have a lot of situations with a many locations.  A verification call for this customer -- and we are talking about a customer that basically was the VP of controller who signed on behalf of 259 locations -- based on the verification script today, that would take anywhere from 25 to 27 hours to complete that call.  I can't imagine doing that with a VP or controller of a company.

Even if the draft verification script was adopted, although it's been in draft for six years, almost six years, that would even still take 4 to 5 hours to complete that call.  So that's a big hindrance to not only for the suppliers, but also for the customer themselves.

On a second note, products.  When you deal with products for these customers, they want a variety.  Like I described earlier, they want options to just take their peak loads, to just take a certain load that they have.  They want flexibility, they want options, and terms and conditions, too; they want options around that.

Under ECPA rules, you can't do that.  You can't compare against a utility's price for a peak, so there's no price comparisons and so forth.

But the biggest one that's a big hindrance for the marketplace and suppliers like ourselves, and Bruce Power and Direct Energy is really the cancellation rates.  As you know, the cancellation rates right now allow for a customer to basically cancel their contract after their second bill.  That could be anywhere from 90 to 180 days where that customer can cancel their contract.

When you are talking about -- I know I am using big examples like TD, but when you deal with people like that, the ability for them to get out of their contract a day later is difficult.  What it means is in order for somebody like ourselves or Bruce Power to be able to supply that, they'd have to add a wholesale price -- a premium price to it.

So because you are covering off risk, a supplier like ourselves has to go into the marketplace and hedge this.  So you go out in the marketplace, and as you know, trading could swing within an hour, let alone minutes.  Now what we are talking about is months -- three, six, seven months where they can still get out of a contract.

So what that translates to is higher prices for them, so they are not really getting wholesale prices.  But it also translates to a supplier like ourselves not supplying them.  So we wouldn't offer that type of product for these larger users that are above 150,000 kilowatt-hours.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Stedman, in that answer you referred to a draft verification script.  I am not sure if you have there -- I just want to identify that.  There is a document called the Ontario Energy Board enforcement team brief of witness statements.  Do you have a copy of that up there?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  If you could open -- and this is Exhibit K1.3, so it was marked last day.  And if you could open up tab number 7, and that's -- so it's behind major tab B, it's sub Tab 7.  I think what you will find there is a document, an OEB document dated October 30th, 2015, and the re line says: "Giving effect to the OEB's report on the effectiveness of the Energy Consumer Protection Act 2010."  Do you see that?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if you could then turn -- later in that tab, there should be a divider page, if your book looks like mine.  My particular divider page is in pink.  And behind that divider page, there's a document called "Verification call script for non-residential consumers natural gas and electricity."  Do you have that?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And if you flip open to page 3 of 7 of that script, if you look under for internet contracts and you look at paragraph number 3 -- just before paragraph number 3, there should be a heading:  "If there are multiple locations, read Q3."  Do you see that?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And Q3 says:
"Our records state that the contract applies to more than one location of (insert name of business).  Our records also state that each location has a distinct utility account number.  Can you please confirm that this is correct?"

And the script goes on to prompt the following statement:
"I would like to confirm the details for each location to which the contract applies.  Our records state that the contract applies to the following..."

Is that the script that you were referring to a minute ago, when you referred to the draft verification script?

MR. STEDMAN:  It was, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Madam Chair, the witnesses are available for cross-examination, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Safayeni?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Safayeni:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, gentlemen.

So I am going to direct most of my questions to Mr. Stedman.  So Mr. Waddick doesn't feel excluded, I may have a few questions for him, too, but just to give you a head's up as to how I will be proceeding.

My first question stems from your first witness statement, which I believe is at tab 1 of Exhibit K2.1, if you have that in front of you there.  And if we go to paragraph 10 -- do you have that in front of you, sir?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So the first sentence there, I'll just read it, says:
"A customer's volume at the time of contracting is determined by the customer and by Active based on the total volume which the customer has historically consumed through the meters and at the locations included by the customer in their request to Active for supply."

Right?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And my question is that, can you confirm that it's possible a customer could have additional meters at additional locations that they don't include in their request for supply to Active?  That's possible; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  It is possible, yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And if they -- if that is the situation, then they wouldn't necessarily disclose consumption at those locations, the ones that are not included in the request for Active, they wouldn't disclose that to Active; correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And in that scenario, Active wouldn't necessarily have access to that information; correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Could you please turn to the Agreed Statement of Fact, Exhibit K1.2.  Turn to contract 34.  Do you have that in front of you, sir?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Now, I -- at least in my copy of the Agreed Statement of Fact, the legibility of this document is a bit suspect, so I have simply printed additional copies that I would provide to the Panel, as it may assist as we review some of the information.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And, again, I am going to try and be careful when we refer to the names on this, because we are on the public record.

MR. STEDMAN:  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  But if we look at contract 34, it's
a -- well, it's -- I guess it's not hard to see on the version that I handed out, but we see that the account holder's name are initials J.D.; correct?  Do you see that in front of you there?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And it's listed as the owner of a business, initials K.I., right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And if we flip the page to the listing of specific accounts, we see seven different entries; correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And the first of those entries is clearly in the name of the business; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The second is a numbered company; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The third is a different name, the initials D. and T.; do you see that there?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And then we see the fourth is the initials N.M.D., which is an individual's name that shares the same last name as the owner of the business; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Presumably a relative of the business owner?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And then J.B.D., again same last name as the business owner; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And then K.D.; again, same last name, an individual with the same last name as the business owner?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And then finally A.J. and A.M.D., again, same last name as the business owner; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So would you agree with me, sir, that it looks like here we have somebody signing up not only their business but a number of relatives and their properties under the same contract?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, I would disagree.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, do you have any personal knowledge of the relationship between the names I just read out and the account owner?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, I don't.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, do you have any personal knowledge about whether all of the addresses that I just read out to you are business locations versus residential addresses?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, I do not.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And in Active's view, there'd be nothing stopping J.D., the person whose name we see on the first page, from signing up these accounts, even if they were family members; correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Well, as Chris Waddick explained earlier, there's numerous reasons why there may be a Mr. and Mrs. on a contract, on a schedule.  It could be a shed that the business owns.  In this case, the vice-president signed this contract and he signed these accounts, and he is responsible for those accounts.

MR. SAFAYENI:  My question is a little bit different.  It's, if he was, in fact, signing up relatives that lived at residential addresses, there wouldn't be anything wrong with that, right, in Active's view?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, you are the president and COO of the company.  If these were residential addresses, would this contract still be valid, in Active's view, or would it be a problem?

MR. STEDMAN:  Well, as I said, I don't know if it's a residential or not.  The only person who knows is the person who signed this contract, which is the VP of this company.  He is ultimately responsible for these accounts.  And as we described earlier, as Chris described, there is a number of reasons why that may occur.  Those premises that you are talking about, those other ones, could be totally owned by them, they could be offices.

MR. SAFAYENI:  No, I understand that.  But I am asking you -- I am asking you to comment on a scenario, perhaps not this contract, but a scenario, where somebody who is a business owner also signs up residences of family members that have nothing to do with the business.  And I am asking whether that would be something that Active would do or whether that would be an issue, in your view.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, if I could just ask Mr. Safayeni to clarify what he means by "sign up".  Is he referring to inclusion on Schedule A or is he referring to signing an agreement?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I meant referring to inclusion on Schedule A.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. STEDMAN:  Well, again, I go back to the fact that we are selling to this company and they sign up some of their accounts, and that's what we sign up --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And in this case you don't know whether they are residences or businesses.

MR. STEDMAN:  I do not know.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And that goes for the other contracts as well.  You haven't personally investigated whether every address on Schedule A of every one of these contracts is a residence or a business.

MR. STEDMAN:  Well, we actually have taken a look through Google and looked at some of these premises, and some of them are, you know, they have business names on it, so you don't know.  So have we looked at every single one and done that, no.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And you'd agree with me that you probably -- well, I don't know, in your Google search you probably came across some that looked like houses as well, I imagine.

MR. STEDMAN:  Some of them are offices, though, too, so I don't know, I don't know the answer.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And part of the reason -- and I appreciate your answer that you don't know, and part of the reason for that is that you were not personally involved in signing up the customer that we see in contract 34; correct?
MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Waddick, not to leave you out, you weren't personally involved either; correct?

MR. WADDICK:  No, I was not.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And I assume that's the case for all of the contracts that we see at tab 18, that you were not personally the folks who met with these customers; right?

MR. WADDICK:  No.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Stedman?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So you don't know when these customers had discussions with whoever did sign them up what was said in those discussions; correct?

MR. WADDICK:  We certainly know what we train our consultants for months to do and the information to convey.  At the end of the day, no, we are not personally there, but we are selling to a customer who is buying electricity in excess of 150,000, he is providing us with the utility accounts that he wants that contract to cover, and we are signing those utility accounts up with the utility --


MR. SAFAYENI:  No, I under --


MR. WADDICK:  -- we do not personally investigate every utility account and go see what type of building or property it is.  We rely on the executive of that business to give us the appropriate utility accounts.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So I am going to ask Mr. Stedman a series of questions, and then I am going to, just to make it less cumbersome, Mr. Waddick, I will ask you at the end if your answers to these questions are any different, okay, just to make this a little bit more straightforward.

So, Mr. Stedman, because you weren't there, you don't know what questions, if any, were asked by these consumers leading to the signing of these accounts?  Correct, you don't know?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't know what representations were made by the consultants; you have no personal knowledge of that, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't know how many meetings a customer and a consultant had, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Not specifically on these 101, no.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And you don't know how long a particular meeting lasted, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  I know through training that basically they have to consult with them, so there is a lengthy discussion -- and remember, we don't just door-knock.  We basically go, phone them up, set up a meeting and usually it's an hour, two hours in length.  It could be shorter or longer.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I appreciate that you have an expectation as to how things would unfold based on the training.  But my question is whether you have any specific knowledge in relation to these 101 contracts.

MR. STEDMAN:  Without going through every single one, I may have some knowledge on some of them.  But most of them, no.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And my specific question, just to remind us, was how long a meeting lasted, right.  And the answer is no, I gather.

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know specifically.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And you don't know the extent, if any, of the negotiation that occurred between a particular consumer and a particular sales person on any one of these 101 contracts, because you weren't there, right?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And you don't know if any of these energy consultants approached the customer or vice versa, correct, in any given case?

MR. STEDMAN:  Sorry, can you repeat that question.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't know whether a particular energy consultant or sales person approached a particular customer or vice versa in any of these given cases, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't -- could you rephrase that question?  I don't quite understand it.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't know who initiated the discussions that led to these contracts being signed, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  I would say that most of them are initiated by leads and phoning the customer.  I don't know for a fact that every single one was done that way.  We do have customers that approach us.  I just had one the other day from a bank doing the same thing and approached us.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Your evidence, if I can try and restate it, is that generally speaking, a consultant or sales person will approach a customer, but it can happen the other way as well.

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, and because you have never met these customers, you have no personal knowledge about their degree of sophistication when it comes to energy matters, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Waddick, are your answers any different for the questions I have asked?

MR. WADDICK:  Not different, but there is a few things I would like to add.

When you say we have no knowledge, we have weekly sales meetings where we are talk to the consultants, finding out how their progress is going.  They will talk to us about current negotiations that are ongoing.

Certainly I will see many contracts come to me to review changes to the terms and conditions that the customer wants.  I would say in most cases, our whole business model is based on reaching out to customers, finding out who the energy purchaser is, establishing a meeting with that customer.

Certainly we will have some repeat customers who is come back to us, or customers who are hear about us and come to us.  But our the entire business model is based on B to B professional outreach to these customers, identifying the energy purchaser at that entity, setting up meetings with them, going through a process with them.

We hear about that process in regular weekly meetings with all our sales consultants sales through our sales management team.  We know that there's multiple meetings taking place.  We know there's negotiations taking place because I personally see negotiations on terms and conditions taking place.

So I would just add that to Mr. Stedman's comments.

MR. SAFAYENI:  When you say you personally see, Mr. Waddick, let's be very clear.  You have never met any of these consumers -- customers, let me say -- and you have never been personally involved in negotiations with them.

You may hear about it through your sales people, correct?

MR. WADDICK:  That's not quite correct.  I have been involved in negotiations on terms and conditions with customers and their lawyers.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Which one of these 101 contracts were you personally involved in?

MR. WADDICK:  I'd have to go back an check my records on that.  It's not something I have looked at, and I have no notes to cover that.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Sitting here today, you can't point to any of the 101 that you met the customer at, correct?

MR. WADDICK:  I'd have to go through all the contracts to tell you that.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't know any off the top of your head sitting here?

MR. WADDICK:  Not of 101 -- I may have. I'd have to go through 101 customers …

MR. MONDROW:  If you'd like Mr. Waddick to go through the contracts and tell you if he finds any that are familiar, he is happy to do that.  I think that's what you are asking.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I would like him to advise me if he was personally involved in meeting and negotiating with any of the customers in the 101 contracts we have here today.  And if the answer to the that is yes, I may have follow-up questions.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if the Panel would like to hear that evidence, we will need a couple minutes for Mr. Waddick to leaf through the contracts.

MR. SAFAYENI:  We could perhaps have a brief morning recess.  My cross-examination is not going be lengthy.  If the Panel would grant us --


MS. LONG:  Do you want to do that now?

MR. WADDICK:  I can clarify that question.  I have not personally met with the customers through the sales process.  My reference was to interactions knowing that negotiations are taking place, because I am seeing the back and forth of the negotiations of contracts.

I am not the front -- my role in the company is not to be the front part of the sales process.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So you are seeing it by discussions with other people associated with Active Energy; is that fair?

MR. WADDICK:  And seeing it when contracts come to me to say the customer would like to change this term, the customer would like to change the wording in this term, they would like this clause out; I see that.  So I know that often negotiation are lengthy, and I know the negotiations are taking place because I am part of the legal side of negotiating that contract.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And you have -- that general knowledge that you have just described doesn't relate to any of the specific contracts before us today.  Fair?

MR. WADDICK:  If you are asking me if I have been involved in any of the legal review of the contracts here today, that would not be correct.  I can't say specifically which ones, but I am quite certain there would be some contracts in here that I would have had some involvement in and the legal review of it.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  After the point where some deal has been tentatively reached between a customer and a sales person or a consultant, fair?

MR. WADDICK:  No deal has been reached until the contract is signed, and that's --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think I said tentative deal.

MR. WADDICK:  Well, we have lots of deals that fall apart during the contract negotiation process.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, let's turn to tab 71.

MS. SPOEL:  Tab 71, Mr. Safayeni, or contract 71?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I am sorry, contract 71 in tab 18.  Mr. Stedman, do you have that in front of you there?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And again being careful because we are on the public record, a contract here seems to be signed on behalf of an Asian restaurant, fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And if we look at the schedule A, we have two locations, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Two locations and three accounts.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And keeping that open but turning to Exhibit K2.1, which is Active's witness brief, if we turn to tab 7 -- do you have that in front of you, sir?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You will see that if we look at -- look for contract 71, it's about what looks like roughly ten up from the bottom of the page, and you see the initials that align with the name of the customer.  Do you see that there?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And the aggregate consumption is 164973, right?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And for this particular consumer, or this particular customer let me say, the worst-case scenario is that it would have involved two verification calls, right, because we are talking about two locations?  Assuming the ECPA applied.  If the ECPA applied, the worst-case scenario would be you would make two verification calls; fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  I am not a hundred percent sure because there's three accounts.  You may have to make three verification calls.

MR. SAFAYENI:  On the interpretation that the enforcement team is advancing, which is a location-specific approach, we have two locations, two municipal addresses, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So if we needed one verification call per location we would need two verification calls; fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is fair.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And can we agree that a customer like this particular customer is likely to be less sophisticated when it comes to energy matters than somebody who is in charge of signing on behalf of a major company with dozens of locations across the province?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, I disagree with that statement.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You disagree that the owner of this -- that the person who signed on behalf of this contract is likely to be less sophisticated than, for example, someone signing on behalf of RBC or the Beer Store?  Is that your evidence?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know.  Some of these people are very educated and very -- they know -- some of these people, you walk in and they understand this business better than sometimes our consultants going in.  Some of these people -- you talk about the banks.  Some of them use consultants, and that's who we work through as well.  They use consultants that basically know the business, because these people, when you talk about banks and things, they basically have hundreds of accounts, but they are, you know, they are very educated, like a person here could be very educated as well.

So I don't know about the level of sophistication on each one of them.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right, but you are not willing to agree with me that it's likely that they would be less sophisticated, somebody who owns an Asian restaurant with two locations, versus somebody in charge of signing energy contracts on behalf of a bank with 100 locations.  You won't agree with me on that.

MR. STEDMAN:  Not 100 percent, because some of
these --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Safayeni, I find these questions somewhat objectionable.  The fact it is an Asian restaurant is completely irrelevant.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I don't mean it as anything specific to that restaurant.  Frankly, I picked it because it's --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, you could say it -- you could use a small -- someone who owns a number of locations, for a not large business, but maybe a medium-sized business, but it's also complete speculation as to a level of sophistication of people based on their energy consumption, but I just find that the whole line about the speculation about people's level of sophistication based on the kind of business they run is problematic.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Well, I want to be very clear that I meant nothing by the type of the restaurant.  That was merely a descriptor, and there are other examples.  Frankly, this was used because it's one of the examples with the fewest locations and the lowest consumption, so that's what animated me taking you to that contract.  I want to be very clear about that.

With respect to your broader concern about the types of businesses and what you can infer based on those types of customers, perhaps that's a better matter for final argument.  I think we have already gone down that road.  We have heard about banks, we have heard about, you know, retailers like Shoppers Drug Mart.  I am trying to present the other side of the equation.

I think that's only fair, frankly.  Whether the Panel ultimately finds it relevant or not I think we can address at a later time, and I am not going to -- I would like to go through a couple of examples simply to balance the record a little bit, but I can advise the Panel and my friend that I am not going to belabour the point.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. WADDICK:  I would just, if I could, just echo Mr. Stedman's comment that -- and it ties on to a little bit what the Panel member just said -- just because you run a small business, it takes a degree of sophistication to build a business into multiple locations, and personally, I have seen both sides of that, and I would rather negotiate, probably, with someone working at a large company than someone who has successfully built their own business into multiple locations.  They are very sophisticated and smart business people.

MR. SAFAYENI:  But your role is not to negotiate, right, Mr. Waddick?  You told us that earlier.

MR. WADDICK:  I often negotiate with Active.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Your role is not to negotiate with the consumer directly.  You told us that earlier.  Are you changing your evidence?

MR. WADDICK:  I have often negotiated with people that own their businesses versus people who work for a bigger company, and I am just -- you were suggesting that this person was unsophisticated because they only run a couple businesses.  I am saying that that is not the case.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, first --


MR. WADDICK:  I am not speaking about specific people, as you were neither.

MR. SAFAYENI:  My question was whether they are likely to be less sophisticated, not whether they are unsophisticated, for the record.

MR. WADDICK:  And I disagree with that, as Mr. Stedman does.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  I think your evidence, both of you, is clear on that.

So let's turn to number 75, and again, without getting into any of the details, because we are on the public record, we have here what appears to be the operator of a bowling alley, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  If we turn the page we see there are two locations.

MR. STEDMAN:  It looks like two locations, four accounts.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And if we turn to tab 7 of Exhibit K2.1, which is the energy consumption chart, it's about five from the bottom.  Do you see it there?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  159,206 kilowatt-hours for the consumption per year; do you see that?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  And worst-case scenario here on staff's interpretation if we are doing it per location, again, we have two locations, so two verification calls; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And I will ask the same question.  I don't anticipate the answer will be any different, but if I ask whether you'd agree that a customer like this would be likely to be less sophisticated when it comes to matters relating to energy contracts than a representative of a company with dozens of locations across the province, would you agree with me or not?

MR. STEDMAN:  I disagree.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I assume the reasons are the same as what you gave earlier.

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.  Remember, they have multiple locations here.  It's not one bowling alley, it's --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Two bowling alleys.

MR. STEDMAN:  It's two.  There could be seven.  Other examples I could pull out --


MR. SAFAYENI:  But this example is --


MR. STEDMAN:  -- if I had notes I could pull up more examples.

MR. SAFAYENI:  But this example is two bowling alleys; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And I guess, just to be clear, we don't know that it's two bowling alleys; right?  We know it's two locations associated with the owner of a bowling alley; is that a more accurate way of putting it?

MR. STEDMAN:  It could be --


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, we haven't visited -- you haven't gone to those addresses.  You don't know if both are bowling alleys, let's put it that way.

MR. STEDMAN:  I have not; that's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And --


MR. WADDICK:  I can confirm that this is two bowling alleys, not...

MR. SAFAYENI:  Have you bowled there, sir?

MR. WADDICK:  No, but I checked on this one.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, so it is two actual bowling alleys?

MR. WADDICK:  It is.

MR. SAFAYENI:  All right.  So can we go -- and this is the last one I will take us to.  It's 9, contract 9, but under the number EB-2017-223, so it's very close to the end of tab 18.  Do you have that there?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And we have a contract here for what appears to be a farm, if we look down at the authorization section, initials M.F.I.; do you see that?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And if we look at the back, we see that there are two locations; correct?  Two accounts, two locations.

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And if we look at attachment number 6 again, tab 7 of Exhibit K2.1, we see -- and it's maybe roughly three-quarters of the way down the page under the entry B9 for the customer number.  We see a consumption of 177,958; right?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And you referred earlier to tobacco farms or farms with 150,000 chickens.  You don't know if this farm falls into that category; correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  I don't know specifically this farm; that is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Right.  You don't know what they are growing, or what their operation looks like, personally?

MR. STEDMAN:  I personally don't know.  But as I explained earlier, there is a number -- this could have 100,000 chickens there.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And it could have none.

MR. STEDMAN:  It could have none, that's right.

MR. WADDICK:  I think the point that Mr. Stedman was making earlier is that there a distinction between a farm that uses this much energy versus a farm that doesn't, and generally what those distinctions are.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And, Mr. Waddick, as you wade in, you don't know the details of this farm either; correct?

MR. WADDICK:  Not specifically, but I know the type of operation it must be to use 150,000 kilowatt-hours.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  If we turn to paragraph 7 of your witness statements -- pardon me, it's actually paragraph 7 of your further witness statement, so it's at tab 9 of Exhibit K2.1.  Do you have that in front of you, Mr. Stedman?

MR. STEDMAN:  I do.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So if we look at first sentence, it says:
"Each of our non-low volume customers has consulted a professional business to business sales representative from Active, or from a non-affiliated energy supply consultant broker, who may be presenting a number of different supply options to the customer."

Do you see that?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So first of all, when it says professional business-to-business sales representative from Active, I assume those are Active employees or contractors?

MR. STEDMAN:  Mainly contractors.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mainly contractors.

MR. STEDMAN:  Consultants that we train, yes.  As Chris said earlier, they go through a two of or three-month training program on the commodity business.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And are they paid by Active on a commission basis?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And when it says "non affiliated energy supply consultant broker", that's a different category.  Those are not Active employees or contractors, is that correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And are those individuals also paid on a commission basis?

MR. STEDMAN:  There may or may not be some fees that are associated with that transaction.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You are not aware of how they are compensated, or does the compensation structure vary?

MR. STEDMAN:  It does vary a little bit.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Are most of them paid on a commission basis?  Is that fair to say?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, they are not.

MR. SAFAYENI:  How are they paid?

MR. STEDMAN:  We have brokers out there that do an RFP.  I didn't get into the RFP stuff, but there's brokers out there that do that on behalf of a customer and we deal with them, and they're that broker part we are dealing with.  But there are some brokers that request some type of management fee, or what have you.  So it's a mixed bag between both of those.

MR. SAFAYENI:  None of these 101 customers signed up with Active through an RFP, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  I would have to -- I don't know a hundred percent if that's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You can't point to any sitting here  that did, right?

MR. STEDMAN:  No.  If I had my notes, I could tell you who signed what.  But I don't have that in front of me.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Waddick, can you shed any light on whether any of the 101 contracts were signed through any kind of RFP process?

MR. WADDICK:  I can't.  A number of these contracts were signed years ago, so I can't shed any light on that right now.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Let's put aside the RFP scenario, and I am going to ask the question again.  So putting aside the RFP scenario or the indep --are the non-affiliated consultants mainly paid by commission basis, putting aside the RFP scenario?

MR. STEDMAN:  No, that's not correct.  We have people out there that we deal with as brokers that basically have no commissions.

MR. SAFAYENI:  How are they compensated?

MR. STEDMAN:  They are compensated by the customer.  The customer has asked them to help them.  They sit down with them and negotiate with them the terms, prices and so forth.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Are any of the energy consultants paid a commission by Active?

MR. STEDMAN:  There are some energy consultants that are paid a commission by Active, yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And where an energy consultant is involved, we see their name on the contract, right?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And conversely, if we don't see the name of an energy consultant on the contract, is it fair to assume that an energy consultant wasn't involved?

MR. STEDMAN:  I'd have to check each contract.  Sorry, I don't know the answer.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, certainly there's nothing stopping these contracts being signed without the involvement of an energy consultant, right?  And some of them don't involve an energy consultant, fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's fair.  Maybe if you just rephrase that question, just so --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I don't think it's controversial and we can go look at some examples, but some of the contracts -- some of the 101 contracts did not involve energy consultants.

MR. STEDMAN:  What would be an example?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, if we go to --


MR. STEDMAN:  I label our people that we deal with as consultants.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Are you talking about Active's own business representatives?

MR. STEDMAN:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Let me make the question clearer then.  Some of the contracts don't involve non-affiliate consultant supplier/brokers, which is the term used in your witness statement; fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  That's fair.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Can we turn to tab 11 of your witness statement, please, of the witness brief?  So under this tab, there's a series of letters from various entities.  And you'd agree with me that none of these entities are electricity retailers, correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  Can you define what you mean by electricity retailers?

MR. SAFAYENI:  None of them have a licence to retail electricity from the Board, as far as you're aware?

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, could I ask Mr. Safayeni to ask Mr. Stedman if he is aware of the licensing status of any of these people?  I don't know that's something that -- well.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I think I said as far as you're aware.  I mean, do you have any knowledge?

MR. MONDROW:  That's a different question.  Do you have any knowledge is the question I am asking.

MR. SAFAYENI:  If he doesn't have any knowledge, presumably he can tell me that.

But do you have any knowledge as to the licensing status of the entities who wrote letters at tab 11, Mr. Stedman?

MR. STEDMAN:  Give me one minute?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Sure.

MR. STEDMAN:  I am not aware.  There may be one, the last letter in there that may have it.  I'm not too sure.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, fair enough.  And the letters that we see at tab 11 look very similar from one to the other.  They are not identical, but there are some similarities.  I assume that these entities were provided with a draft letter to work from.  Is that fair?

MR. STEDMAN:  I provided a template of the key things that I was trying to convey to the Board, and I asked them to confirm, because this was going on record, that this is what their understanding is.  And if they wanted to add anything, like two letters in here, I can take you to the last letter --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think I understand you are saying that you provided them with a template that they could modify.

MR. STEDMAN:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry, Madam Chair, if I can just have a moment to review my notes, I may be done or close to done.

MS. LONG:  Sure.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, gentlemen.  I have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, the Panel has no questions.  Do you have any re-examination?

MR. MONDROW:  Very briefly, if I could, Madam Chair, thank you.

Re-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stedman, you referred during your discussion with Mr. Safayeni to a customer that just approached you yesterday.  They are not currently a customer of Active; is that correct?

MR. STEDMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so I don't think there is any harm in mentioning them by name in that case.  Could you elaborate on why you mentioned that and what that is?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I object to this question.  I don't understand what the relevance is, and it didn't properly stem from a question that I asked.  I mean, Mr. Stedman may have offered it in an answer, but it was non-responsive, and this is an entire line that could have been explored in-chief very easily, and I don't understand the relevance, in addition to it not being proper re-exam.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, Madam Chair.  To be quite honest, I don't remember the context in which Mr. Stedman made the remark, so I am not going to pursue it, that's fine.

Mr. Stedman, I think it was you that Mr. Safayeni was talking to about the compensation arrangements for various types of individuals involved in some of these transactions.

When a contract is signed by a customer, being the entity consuming the electricity, can we necessarily conclude that that customer consulted or didn't consult a third party?  So if the customer signs the contract, can you draw a conclusion from that fact about whether they sought advice or expertise or not?

MR. STEDMAN:  You cannot, no.

MR. MONDROW:  And, finally, you were about to -- that's okay, that's it, Madam Chair, I am done.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen, for your evidence.  You are excused.
Procedural Matters:


I think we have a written argument schedule?  Mr. Safayeni is going to tell me we don't.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yeah, my understanding was that we were going to appear on the 19th for oral argument and we were going to file not written argument, but any additional authorities we would like to refer to in side-barred books by the end of next week, which would give the Panel an opportunity to review that if they wish in advance of oral argument.

MS. LONG:  And that is still your preference, to do oral argument?

MR. SAFAYENI:  It is mine, Madam Chair.  I haven't spoken to my friend.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, Madam Chair, that's fine, thank you.

MS. LONG:  That is?  Okay.  All right.  Well, we will -- sorry, Mr. Richler, something to add?

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, just to clarify, after the close of the first day of this hearing, there was some back and forth on scheduling, and a letter did go out to the parties from the Board on November 16th confirming the schedule for argument, and that did include an oral component on the morning of December 19th.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, we will look forward then to your materials prior to that and then seeing you back on the 19th.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:04 a.m.
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